TGEGKXGF. '34B; 14235''393: 54. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC13-05

GERHARD HOJAN, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0899641

JESSICA HOUSTON Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0098568

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 1 East Broward Boulevard Suite 444 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel. (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL STATEMENT

On October 17, 2003, Mr. Hojan was found guilty of two counts of first degree murder; one count of attempted first degree premeditated murder; one count of attempted first degree felony murder; three counts of armed kidnapping; and two counts of armed robbery (R. 2480-2481). The penalty phase of Mr. Hojan's trial began on November 24, 2003. For each count of first degree murder, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 9-3 (R. 2649). Because Mr. Hojan refused to allow his lawyers to present mitigation evidence, the trial court appointed its own counsel, Hilliard Moldof, to investigate mitigation (R. 787; 2928). Upon completion of a Spencer¹ hearing in which limited mitigation evidence was presented, the trial court sentenced Mr. Hojan to death on August 2, 2005 (R. 3133). Mr. Hojan timely appealed and this Court affirmed his conviction and sentences on direct appeal.² Hojan v. State, 3 So. 3d 1204 (Fla. 2009).³ On

¹ See Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

² Mr. Hojan raised the following claims on direct appeal: (1) the surviving victim's statement to an officer at the scene was not an excited utterance; (2) the trial court improperly treated Hojan's waiver of the opportunity to present mitigating evidence in the penalty phase as a waiver of his opportunity to present motions challenging the death penalty; (3) his confession should have been suppressed; (4) Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional; and (5) the trial court committed error under *Koon v. Dugger*, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993), and *Muhammad v. State*, 782 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2001).

November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review. *Hojan v. Florida*, 130 S. Ct. 741 (2009).

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 (d), the Office of the Attorney General is required, within 15 days of the issuance of this Court's mandate affirming a sentence of death, to direct the Office of the State Attorney to submit its public records to the records repository and notify each law enforcement agency involved in the investigation to submit its public records to the repository. In Mr. Hojan's case, the Attorney General gave timely notice of this Court's mandate—issued on March 26, 2009—to the State Attorney for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit (PCR. 15; Supp-PCR. 77-78). The Attorney General also filed a notice of this Court's mandate with the Florida Department of Corrections (Supp-PCR. 79-80).

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 (e), the Office of the State Attorney had 15 days from receipt of the notice of the mandate to notify the law enforcement agencies to submit their public records to the repository. In other words, the State Attorney's Office should have notified the agencies involved on or before April 15, 2009 (PCR. 16). However, in Mr. Hojan's case, the State Attorney's Office inexplicably delayed notification to the

³ On April 27, 2009, the CCRC-South Office filed its Notice of Appearance on Mr. Hojan's behalf (Supp-PCR. 81-82).

Davie Police Department, the Fort Lauderdale Police Department, the Hollywood Police Department, the Broward Sheriff's Office, and the Broward Medical Examiner's Office until August 6, 2009 (PCR. 16; Supp-PCR. 90-99). Thus, due to the State's delay in notification, the agencies had until November 4, 2009, to submit their records to the repository. This they did not do, and therefore Mr. Hojan requested and obtained an extension of time to file additional public records demands pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 (g) (PCR. 15-16).⁴

Additional public records demands to a variety of agencies were made on February 26, 2010 (PCR. 22-135). Agencies thereafter filed Notices of Compliance with the demands or objected to production of the requested records. *See, e.g.* PCR. 137-148; 152-165 (Broward Sheriff's Office); PCR. 150-51; 250-254 (Florida Judicial Qualifying Commission); PCR. 166-176; 182-182; 185-186 (Florida Department of Corrections); PCR. 177-181; 193-195 (Office of the State Attorney for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit); PCR. 187-189 (the Florida Medical Examiner's Commission); PCR. 190-192 (Florida Department of Law Enforcement; PCR. 196-231 (Office of the

⁴ It does appear from the record that the Fort Lauderdale Police Department filed a Notice of Compliance on October 30, 2009 (PCR. 20-21).

Florida Governor). An extensive public records hearing was held on August 23, 2013 (Supp-PCR. Volume 1).⁵

On November 23, 2010, Mr. Hojan filed a motion to vacate the judgment of convictions and sentences of death with special request for leave to amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, raising eight claims. (PCR. 274-393).⁶ The State was ordered to file a written response (PCR. 393), which it did on March 3, 2011 (PCR. 400-457).

In the meantime, the outstanding public records issues continued to be litigated by the parties and the agencies to which demands were made. *See*, *e.g.* PCR. 394-96; 397-398; 460-468; 470-471; 473-474; 475-485; 495-499. By July 3, 2012, the record reflects that public records litigation had

⁵ The transcript of the August 23, 2010, public records hearing is not paginated in continuation with Volume 2 of the Supplemental Record.

⁶ These claims were as follows: Claim I (denial of access to public records) (PCR. 29-79-283); Claim II (application of Rule 3.851 violates due process and equal protection) (PCR. 283-285); Claim III (ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase of Mr. Hojan's capital trial) (PCR. 286-306); Claim IV (trial court impermissibly allowed presentation of *Williams*-rule evidence at trial) (PCR. 307-309); Claim V (ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase in failing to adequately counsel Mr. Hojan regarding the nature and consequences of waiving penalty phase mitigation) (PCR. 309-317); Claim VI (rule prohibiting juror interviews is unconstitutional) (PCR. 318-320); Claim VII (newly discovered evidence establishes unreliability of scientific evidence used at trial) (PCR. 321-333); Claim VIII (Florida's lethal injection procedures violate the Eighth Amendment (PCR. 334-344).

concluded⁷ and Mr. Hojan had received numerous additional records, including records that the lower court concluded warranted disclosure notwithstanding a claimed exemption (PCR. 511). On July 10, 2012, Mr. Hojan filed an amendment to his previously-filed Rule 3.851 motion (PCR. 514-683).⁸ On July 16, 2012, a case management hearing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 (f)(5) was held (PCR. 913-944), after which the State filed a written response to Mr. Hojan's amended motion (PCR. 684-751).

On August 22, 2012, the lower court issued a short order following the case management hearing indicating that Mr. Hojan "is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on any of his claims" and that a "final order" would be "forthcoming" (PCR. 752). That final order was filed on December 3, 2012

⁷ By motion dated September 13, 2012, Mr. Hojan did seek an order compelling the Department of Corrections and the Davie Police Department to produce public records that the lower court had previously ordered produced (Supp-PCR. 113-15). The lower court granted Mr. Hojan's motion to compel (Supp-PCR. 116-17).

⁸The amendment added only one new claim, identified as Claim IX, to the previously-filed Rule 3.851 motion (PCR. 554-560) (Florida' death penalty scheme is unconstitutional). The remainder of the amendment supplemented some of the previously-raised claims. The following claims were amended; Claim I (public records) (PCR. 515-527); Claim V (ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase in failing to adequately counsel Mr. Hojan regarding the nature and consequences of waiving penalty phase mitigation) (PCR. 527-543); Claim VIII (Florida's lethal injection procedures violate the Eighth Amendment) (PCR. 543-554)

(PCR. 756-793). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed (PCR. 794-795), and this Initial Brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

In Argument I, Mr. Hojan submits that he was denied an adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial due to trial counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel, and the lower court erred in summarily denying this claim without affording Mr. Hojan an evidentiary hearing. First, Mr. Hojan alleged that trial counsel were prejudicially deficient during the jury selection process in this case where counsel came to an "agreement" with the prosecutor—outside the presence of the trial judge and outside the presence of Mr. Hojan—regarding the selection of the 12 jurors and the 4 Second, trial counsel were prejudicially deficient in alternates. unreasonably failing to challenge the admissibility of the scientific evidence and testimony presented at trial, and in failing to investigate and challenge the qualifications and opinions of the State's forensic expert, Carl Haemmerle. Third, Mr. Hojan alleged that his counsel were ineffective in failing to argue and present evidence, during the hearing on the motion to suppress Mr. Hojan's statement to law enforcement, that Mr. Hojan was not capable of adequately understanding his *Miranda* rights and therefore did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive those Miranda rights. Fourth, Mr. Hojan alleged that counsel were prejudicially deficient in failing to investigate his German and Jamaican heritage. Alone and combined, the errors alleged by Mr. Hojan undermined confidence in the outcome of his capital trial. Because the files and records did not conclusively refute the allegations made by Mr. Hojan, the lower court erred in denying this claim without an evidentiary hearing.

In Argument II, Mr. Hojan submits that his counsel were ineffective at the penalty phase of his capital trial in that counsel failed to adequately ensure that Mr. Hojan understood the nature, circumstances, and consequences of waiving penalty phase mitigation, thus virtually assuring that Mr. Hojan would be sentenced to death. This claim raised extra-record allegations which were not conclusively refuted by the record, nor was this claim procedurally barred as having been raised and rejected on direct appeal. This Court should reverse the summary denial of this claim and remand for an evidentiary hearing.

In Argument III, Mr. Hojan submits that the trial court abused its discretion in denying access to public records from various state agencies, in violation of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852. Specifically, Mr. Hojan challenges the trial court's refusal to grant Mr. Hojan's requests for certain records from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and the Broward County Sheriff's Office.

In Argument IV, Mr. Hojan submits that an evidentiary hearing is warranted on the newly discovered evidence that the forensic science used to convict him was neither reliable nor valid, thus depriving him of a fair trial under the United States Constitution.

In Argument V, Mr. Hojan submits that his rights have been abridged under the United States Constitution due to the prohibition in the Florida rules of professional conduct regarding juror interviews.

In Argument VI, Mr. Hojan submits that Florida's lethal injection protocol and its method of execution violates the Eighth Amendment.

In Argument VII, Mr. Hojan raises several issues which were rejected below and are being raised in the instant appeal for preservation purposes.

ARGUMENT I

MR. HOJAN'S CONVICTIONS ARE **UNRELIABLE AND IN VIOLATION OF THE** FIFTH. SIXTH. EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS BECAUSE OF THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF **COUNSEL PRETRIAL AND DURING THE** GUILT PHASE OF HIS TRIAL. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO **GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON** THIS ISSUE.

I. Standard of Review.

This issue, like all of the claims raised below by Mr. Hojan, was denied by the lower court without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing. The lower court summarily denied Mr. Hojan's numerous allegations of serious deficiencies which singularly and cumulatively undermined confidence in the outcome of his capital trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *State v. Gunsby*, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996).

Mr. Hojan sought an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1)(D) and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(A) for all claims requiring a factual determination. Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(A)(i), an evidentiary hearing must be held "on claims listed by the defendant as requiring a factual determination." *Accord Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851*, 772 So. 2d 488, 491 n.2 (Fla. 2000) (endorsing the proposition that "an evidentiary hearing is mandated on initial motions

which assert . . . legally cognizable claims which allege an ultimate factual basis"). *See also Allen v. Butterworth*, 756 So. 2d 52, 66-67 (2000); *Gonzales v. State*, 990 So. 2d 1017, 1024 (Fla. 2008). To the extent there is any question as to whether the movant has made a facially sufficient claim requiring a factual determination, the Court will presume that an evidentiary hearing is required. *Booker v. State*, 969 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 2007).

"Postconviction claims may be summarily denied when they are legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or are positively refuted by the record." *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2007). Factual allegations as to the merits of a constitutional claim as well as to issues of diligence (if raised by the State) must be accepted as true, and an evidentiary hearing is warranted if the claims involve "disputed issues of fact." *Maharaj v. State*, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996). A court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing is subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Hojan's amended rule 3.851 motion pled facts regarding the merits of his claim which must be accepted as true. *Lightbourne v. State*, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). When these facts are accepted as true, it is clear that the record does not positively and conclusively refute Mr. Hojan's claim and that an evidentiary hearing is required.

11

II. Mr. Hojan's Allegations.

A. Introduction.

The United States Supreme Court has consistently affirmed the right of a capital defendant to the effective assistance of counsel and emphasized counsel's duties in a capital case. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003). With respect to his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr. Hojan can establish both of *Strickland*'s prongs -- deficient performance and prejudice which undermined the adversarial testing process at trial.

Counsel's highest duty is the duty to investigate and prepare. Where, as here, counsel unreasonably fails to investigate and prepare, the defendant is denied a fair adversarial testing process and the proceedings' results are rendered unreliable. *See, e.g., Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384-88 (1986) (failure to request discovery based on mistaken belief State obliged to hand over evidence); *Henderson v. Sargent*, 926 F.2d 706 (8th Cir. 1991) (failure to conduct pretrial investigation was deficient performance); *Chambers v. Armontrout*, 907 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1990) (en banc) (failure to interview potential self-defense witness was ineffective assistance); *Nixon v. Newsome*, 888 F.2d 112 (11th Cir. 1989) (failure to have obtained transcript of witness's testimony at co-defendant's trial was

ineffective assistance); *Code v. Montgomery*, 799 F.2d 1481, 1483 (11th Cir. 1986) (failure to interview potential alibi witnesses).

Even if counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, the defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance through any portion of the trial. *Washington v. Watkins*, 655 F.2d 1346, 1355, *rehearing denied with opinion*, 662 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1981), *cert. denied*, 456 U.S. 949 (1982); *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365 (1986). Even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. *Nelson v. Estelle*, 626 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981) (Counsel may be held to be ineffective due to a single error where the basis of the error is of constitutional dimension); *Nero v. Blackburn*, 597 F.2d 991, 994 (5th Cir. 1979) ("...[s]ometimes a single error is so substantial that it alone causes the attorney's assistance to fall below the Sixth Amendment standard.").

The Eighth Amendment recognizes the need for increased scrutiny in the review of capital verdicts and sentences. *Beck v. Alabama*, 477 U.S. 625 (1980). The United States Supreme Court noted that, in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel, the correct focus is on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding:

A number of practical considerations are important for the application of the standards we have outlined. Most important, in adjudicating a claim of actual ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles we have stated do not establish mechanical rules. Although those principles should guide the process of decision, the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696. The evidence presented below and to this Court demonstrates that the result of Mr. Hojan's trial is unreliable. An evidentiary hearing should have been granted and this Court should remand for such a hearing.

1. Counsel was ineffective in the jury selection process where counsel came to an agreement with the state outside the presence of the and Mr. Hojan regarding the twelve jurors and four alternates without engaging in formal jury selection utilization strikes for cause and peremptory challenges

In his Rule 3.851 motion, Mr. Hojan alleged a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the unorthodox, improper, and unprecedented manner in which the jury was selected in this case (PCR. 289-297). The lower court summarily denied this subpart of Mr. Hojan's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, ruling solely on *Strickland*'s prejudice prong (PCR. 769) ("This Court finds that even if Defendant could prove deficient performance, he would not be able to establish prejudice, since he accepted and ratified the procedure. Furthermore, in doing so, he had sufficient information regarding the jurors and the selection process to make an informed decision."). *See also* (PCR. 770) (reaffirming that ruling is based on prejudice prong, not deficiency prong). Because the lower court improperly denied this claim without an evidentiary hearing, and in doing so made factual assumptions that are not borne out by the record, reversal for a hearing is warranted because Mr. Hojan is entitled to relief under *Strickland*.

The record in this case establishes that voir dire commenced on September 30, 2002. After conducting substantial voir dire, the trial court struck the panel after a potential juror said disparaging remarks about defense counsel,⁹ and an entirely new venire was assembled and voir dire commenced anew (R. 474). After a total three days of voir dire in which a jury panel had not been seated, trial counsel announced to the court that he and the State had collaborated and independently decided on a jury.¹⁰

⁹ Specifically, when asked if she knew defense counsel, Mr. Cotrone, potential juror Walden stated, "I hired him to represent my boyfriend who is now in prison and all he did was take my money and be arrogant to me" (R. 465).

¹⁰ That this occurred is not in dispute, as the lower court also recounted that "[o]n October 7, 2003, defense counsel informed the Court that the defense and the prosecution had met and agreed on a tentative panel of twelve (12) jurors and four (4) alternates out of the twenty-eight perspective jurors who had not been eliminated for cause" (PCR. 767).

Counsel informed the court that they "met with the State and we looked at the group of people that we had, and we came up with a tentative panel of twelve with four alternates" (R. 1209-1210). When counsel informed the court of this development, he stated that Mr. Hojan still wanted to speak to more potential jurors (R. 1210). Specifically, counsel informed the court as follows:

Judge, like I was saying, Friday afternoon we met with the State and we looked at the group of people that we had, and we came up with a tentative panel of twelve with four alternates. I say tentative because we don't know who's going to coming [sic] back or who has an excuse.

That being said, we also spoke with our client, Mr. Hojan. He indicated to us, and I hope that you would inquire a little bit more for us, that he wanted to speak to more potential jurors.

(R. 1209-1210).

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