TGEGKXGF. "51614236"39-2: -62. "Iqj p'C0Vqo culpq. "Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-05

GERHARD HOJAN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

IV

THE FEBRUARY 2009 NAS REPORT IS NOT NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE (Restated)

Hojan points to the NAS report and its various recommendations as newly discovered evidence supporting his claim that the forensic work conducted in his case was not reliable under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. However, the NAS report does not qualify as newly discovered evidence and Hojan has failed to show that he could not have raised these issues sooner. In fact, many of the arguments were those he raised in his first issue.⁶ This Court should affirm the denial of relief.

⁶The State incorporates it response to I©. The bulk of the evidence against Hojan was not the forensic evidence of the toolmarks made by the bolt cutter found in his car and the rifling marks on the expended bullets shot from his gun, but was the eyewitness testimony of Nunn who knew Hojan and saw him rob and shoot her and the other two individuals as well as his full confession.

Hojan insists that the NAS Report constitutes newly discovered evidence and cites to <u>Trepal v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 2003), as allegedly showing that similar reports have been considered to be newly discovered evidence. However, in <u>Trepal</u>, this Court affirmed an order finding that the FBI report was not newly discovered evidence. <u>Trepal</u>, 846 So. 2d at 407, 424. Consequently, <u>Trepal</u> does not show that reports from governmental entities constitute newly discovered evidence. Moreover, this Court has held that it has never recognized new opinions or new research studies as newly discovered evidence. <u>Schwab v. State</u>, 969 So. 2d 318, 326 (Fla. 2007).

Hojan failed to show how this evidence was newly discovered. It is well established that "in order to be considered newly discovered, the evidence 'must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that the defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by the use of due diligence." Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512, 521 (Fla.1998) (quoting Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1324-25 (Fla.1994)); Robinson v. State, 707 So.2d 688, 691 (Fla.1998); Blanco v. State, 702 So.2d 1250, 1252 (Fla.1997). Second, to warrant relief, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla.1991); see also State v. Spaziano, 692 So.2d 174, 176 (Fla.1997). The test of prejudice for newly discovered evidence is the most difficult for a defendant to meet

and in making this determination, the trial court must "consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible at trial and then evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at trial." <u>Jones (II)</u>, 709 So.2d at 521 (quoting <u>Jones</u>, 591 So.2d at 916). Assuming the defendant's evidence meets the threshold requirement by qualifying as newly discovered, no relief is warranted if the evidence would not be admissible at trial. <u>See Robinson</u>, 707 So.2d at 691-92 (denying relief where statements made in affidavit did not expose affiant to criminal liability for perjury and lacked indicia of reliability for admission as statement against penal interest).

This Court has repeatedly rejected claims that governmental studies, such as the NAS Report, constitute evidence at all, much less newly discovered evidence. Power v. State, 992 So. 2d 218, 220-23 (Fla. 2008); Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1082-83 (Fla. 2008); Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1145-46 (Fla. 2006); Rolling v. State, 944 So. 2d 176, 181 (Fla. 2006); Rutherford v. State, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1117 (Fla. 2006). Instead, such reports have been characterized as "a compilation of previously available information ... and consists of legal analysis and recommendations for reform, many of which are directed to the executive and legislative branches." Rutherford, 940 So. 2d at 1117. The same is true for this NAS report where it recommends the executive branch employ independent laboratories

rather than doing the scientific examination and analysis in its own agencies. In determining whether the information in a report constitutes newly discovered evidence, this Court has actually looked at when the information in the report could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. See Diaz, 945 So. 2d at 1144 (newly published letter not newly discovered evidence when information underlying letter available since 1950); Glock v. State, 776 So. 2d 243, 251 (Fla. 2001).

Given this state of the law, Hojan's assertion that the report constitutes newly discovered evidence was properly rejected. Hojan does not cite to a single piece of information underlying the report that is new and not argued previously. However, he cannot meet the second prong of the newly discovered evidence test as he has not shown that the NAS report was available and would be admissible or that the result of his trial would have been different. He merely asserts that this information would have resulted in the trial court granting a Frye motion challenging this evidence but not that the evidence would have been excluded. He also argues that Haemmerle's conclusions were not phrased in the manner suggested by the report and were overly conclusive without acknowledging any limitations to the analysis which resulted in the jury being overly reliant on these conclusions in finding Hojan guilty.

Assuming only for argument that his position is accurate in terms of the Frye hearing and the wording of the opinions, he cannot demonstrate that he would have been acquitted if the jury had never heard the testimony concerning the tool and bullet marks. As the State argued previously and incorporates here, Hojan fails to acknowledge the other undisputed evidence found which demonstrates his guilt. The State respectfully reincorporates the prejudice analysis in the earlier claim into this one. Briefly, Nunn knew and had worked with both Mickel and Hojan, saw Mickel with bolt cutters taking the locks off, saw Hojan take the three victims (including herself) into the freezer, saw him rob each of them of their money and property, and saw him shoot each of them. Two other independent witnesses saw Hojan with a gun which looked like the one used in the shootings. The police found a pair of bolt cutters in Hojan's car. Hojan cooperated with the police, confessed to the crimes, and specifically admitted that the bolt cutters in his car was the tool used to cut the locks during the robbery. He also admitted that the gun found was his which he had used to shoot the three people. The import of this evidence would not have been diminished had counsel successfully excluded the challenged forensic evidence obtained from the tool marks on the cut locks or the rifling marks on the expended bullets. Hojan has failed to show how the outcome of his case would have been different. This claim is meritless and was properly summarily denied.

HOJAN'S CHALLENGE TO THE FLORIDA RULES ADDRESSING CONTACT WITH THE JURY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND THE CLAIM IS MERITLESS AS THE RULES ARE CONSTITUTIONAL (Restated)

Without identifying any alleged juror misconduct or bias, Hojan asserts Rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is unconstitutional under the First, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. This claim is procedurally barred and meritless. Summary denial was appropriate.

This claim is procedurally barred since any constitutional challenge to this rule could/should have been presented on direct appeal. See Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, 20-21 (Fla. 2003) (finding procedurally barred claim which asserted Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) was unconstitutional, as it was not raised on direct appeal, but could have been raised, and that the claim was without merit as Griffin "appears to be complaining about a defendant's inability to conduct 'fishing expedition' interviews with the jurors after a guilty verdict is returned"); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000) (rejecting claim that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) is unconstitutional as procedurally barred since "[a]ny claims relating to [defendant's] inability to interview jurors should and could have been raised on direct appeal"); Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 216 (Fla. 2002)(same).

Also, the challenge to the rule itself is without merit and has been rejected repeatedly. See Sexton v. State, 997 So.2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008) (rejecting constitutional challenge to rule barring juror interviews "on a wider range of subjects than grounds for legal challenge to the verdicts" and noting "identical claim has been repeatedly rejected as both procedurally barred when brought on postconviction and on the merits." (citing Barnhill v. State, 971 So.2d 106, 116-17 (Fla. 2007)).

As explained by this Court in Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. v. Maler, 579 So.2d 97, 100 (Fla. 1991), "juror interviews are not permissible unless the moving party has made sworn allegations that, if true, would require the court to order a new trial because the alleged error was so fundamental and prejudicial as to vitiate the entire proceedings. This standard was formulated 'in light of the strong public policy against allowing litigants either to harass jurors or to upset a verdict by attempting to ascertain some improper motive underlying it." A jury interview is not warranted because Hojan has not made sworn allegations that, if true, would require the court to order a new trial because the alleged error was so fundamental and prejudicial as to vitiate the entire proceedings. Baptist Hospital, 579 So.2d at 100. See Devoney v. State, 717 So.2d 501, 502 (Fla. 1998) (describing the matters that may be inquired into as: that a juror was improperly approached by a party, his agent, or attorney; that witnesses or others conversed as to the facts or merits of the cause, out of court and in the presence of jurors; that the verdict was determined by aggregation and average or by lot, or game of chance or other artifice or improper manner).

Moreover, this Court has "cautioned against permitting jury interviews to support post-conviction relief" for allegations which focus upon jury deliberations. Griffin, 866 So.2d at 20-21 (citing Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992) (stating that "it is a well-settled rule that a verdict cannot be subsequently impeached by conduct which inheres in the verdict and relates to the jury's deliberations"). Section 90.607(2)(b), Florida Statute, mandates that a "juror is not competent to testify as to any matter which essentially inheres in the verdict or indictment." Matters that "inhere in the verdict" have been defined as "'those which arise during the deliberation process." Sconyers v. State, 513 So.2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). See Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179, 181 (Fla. 1988). Thus, the statute forbids judicial inquiry into the jurors' emotions, mental processes, mistaken beliefs, understanding of the applicable law, or other matter resting alone in the juror's breast. See Devoney, 717 So.2d at 502; State v. Hamilton, 574 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1991). "In short, matters that inhere in the verdict are subjective in nature, whereas matters that are extrinsic to the verdict are objective." Id.

Further, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.575 provides:

A party who has reason to believe that the verdict may be subject to legal challenge may move the court for an order permitting an interview

of a juror or jurors to so determine. The motion shall be filed within 10 days after the rendition of the verdict, unless good cause is shown for the failure to make the motion within that time. The motion shall state the name of any juror to be interviewed and the reasons that the party has to believe that the verdict may be subject to challenge. After notice and hearing, the trial judge, upon a finding that the verdict may be subject to challenge, shall enter an order permitting the interview, and setting therein a time and a place for the interview of the juror or jurors, which shall be conducted in the presence of the court and the parties. If no reason is found to believe that the verdict may be subject to challenge, the court shall enter its order denying permission to interview.

When adopting this rule, the Court stated: "In response to concerns raised about the effect of the new provision on rule 4-3.5(d)(4), we have added a commentary to the new rule explaining that the new procedure is not intended to abrogate the existing rule 4-3.5(d)(4) procedure." Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 886 So.2d 197, 199 (Fla. 2004) (footnotes omitted). As such, Hojan has an avenue available to him, he just has failed to meet the required criteria. Hojan merely speculates that some of the jurors were biased because of media coverage. All jurors were asked during the voir dire questioning about whether or not they had seen anything in the press and those who had informed the court; they were not seated on the jury. Furthermore, the court repeatedly instructed them to ignore any coverage; jurors are presumed to follow a court's instructions. U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 740 (1993) (finding presumption jurors follow instructions); Burnette v. State, 157 So.2d 65, 70 (Fla. 1963)(same). Hojan also speculates that Fravel may have been biased;

again, as noted earlier, Fravel specifically said the charge was dismissed and he harbored no bias because of the arrest. Hojan has not met his burden under the rule and there is no constitutional infirmity it. Based on the foregoing, this claim should be denied summarily.

VI

FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES ARE CONSTITUTIONAL AND HOJAN WAIVES THIS ISSUE. (Restated)

In his next issue, Hojan claims that Florida's lethal injection protocol and procedures violate the U.S. Constitution's Eight Amendment. He simply references the argument he made in the lower court buts fails to fully articulate and argue it in this brief. He acknowledges that this Court has rejected such claims in the past while noting that the protocol changed since the filing of his post-conviction motion. He states that he is raising it here in order to preserve it if the law changes.

Given Hojan's lack of argument in support of this claim, it should be deemed waived. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived); <u>See Shere v. State</u>, 742 So.2d 215, 218 n. 6 (Fla.1999)(finding that issues raised in appellate brief which contain no argument are deemed abandoned); Cooper v. State,

856 So.2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Finally, this Court upheld the constitutionality of the procedures and protocol, both the previous ones and the current ones. See Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007); Valle v. State, 70 So. 3d 530 (Fla. 2011); Muhammad v. State, 2013 WL 6869010 (Fla. 2013).

VII

HOJAN WAIVED THE CLAIMS MENTIONED IN THIS SECTION AND HIS CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES ARE WITHOUT MERIT. (Restated)

In the last issue Hojan lists three items he had raised in his post-conviction motion. He provides no elucidation or argument on any of them but merely states that he is raising them in order to preserve them for future review. The three are: § 119, Fla. Stat., and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 are unconstitutional as applied to him and on their face; the time frames dictated in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 violate his due process and equal rights protections under both state and federal constitutions; and Florida's death penalty scheme violates the United States Constitution under <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) and <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). He acknowledges that this Court has determined that none of these challenges are valid. Given Hojan's lack of argument in support of this claim, it should be deemed waived. Duest, 555 So.2d at 852(opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present

arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived); See Shere, 742 So.2d at 218 n. 6 (finding that issues raised in appellate brief which contain no argument are deemed abandoned); Cooper, 856 So.2d at 977 n.7.

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